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336 . OUR HARFORD HERITAGE

The town was also an educational and religious center, having been
selected for the site of Cokesbury College, the first Methodist College in
America. Two academies added to the educational prestige of the village.
The Cokesbury Academy was under the jurisdiction of the college and

Photo by Dr. David C. Hodge

SITE OF COKESBURY COLLEGE
1785-1795

continued for several years after that institution came to a disastrous end.
The Abingdon Academy was opened in 1828 and ten years later was con-
solidated with that of Cokesbury. This school stood on lot 27 almost
opposite the present firehouse. The public school succeeded the academy
about 1850 and was made a part of the present school system in 1871.
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Abingdon also boasted of being the home of the first newspaper pub-
lished in the county. In 1805 Daniel P. Ruff established the ABINGDON
PATRIOT, a small four-page weekly publication, which served for a num-
ber of years as a local news and advertising media for lower Harford. This

paper is said to have published several valuable historical pamphlets about
1806, but none seems to have been preserved.

Black Horse

Situated about four miles northwest of Jarrettsville is the crossroads
hamlet of Black Horse. This small village has had an eventful history, It
was located on or near the large expanse of land originally called “The
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236 OUR HARFORD HERITAGE

COKESBURY COLLEGE

In searching old records one often finds the story—long-buried and laid
away—of some dead institution whose name is scarcely known to men today.
Such is the case of Cokesbury College which was founded with great zeal
and high hopes by eminent men of religion, flourished for a short time, and
passed into oblivion.

John Wesley appointed the Rev. Thomas Coke to be Superintendent
of Methodism in the United States. Soon after Coke’s arrival in America,
he met Bishop Francis Asbury, the pioneer bishop of Dover, Delaware, and
it was agreed that there should be established a college for higher education
under the control of the church.

The new school, which was to be modeled after Mr. Wesley’s famous
Kingswood School in England, was planned with great ardor by Dr. Asbury
and Dr. Coke. At a conference of the church in 1783, it was decided that
the college should be located in Harford County, and that its name should
be “Cokesbury,” compounded from the names of the two bishops.

Site Chosen at Abingdon

Within a short time, the site was chosen—a high knoll, a beautiful spot
in the town of Abingdon, overlooking Bush River and Chesapeake Bay.
Speaking of the site on his second visit, Dr. Coke said, “The place delights
me more and more, the waterfront forms one of the most beautiful views
in the United States.”

_ The first ground was purchased from John Paca on July 3, 1784, for
60 pounds sterling, and a deed was made to Richard Dallam, Thomas Kell,
and others, “for the use of the people called Methodists, to expound God’s
Holy Word and for no other purpose.” A subsequent deed in 1787, from
Richard Dallam and Aquila Paca, devisees of John Paca deceased, trans-
ferred “such parts of lots 39 and 40 in Abingdon as have not already been
made over by John Paca in trust for a preaching house, together with the
large edifice already built for a college.”

The building, which had already been erected before this second deed,
was said to have been in “dimensions and style of architecture fully equal,
if not superior, to anything of the kind in the country.” It was of brick, 108
feet in length and 40 feet in width, three stories high, and stood on the
center of the six acre tract, with almost equal slope on each side.

On the first floor was a large hall, 40 feet square, from each corner of
which a winding stairway led to the story above. On each side of the hall
were two classrooms, each 20 x 25 feet. The remaining space was probably
used for a president’s office and quarters for the assistant masters. The
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COKESBURY COLLEGE, 1785-1795

rooms on the second and third floors were the same, except that two rooms
occupied the place of the large hall, and others were fitted up as dormitory
quarters.

The premises were enclosed by a substantial fence, and a pool 6 feet
square was provided for bathing. One pupil was permitted to bathe at a
time and only for one minute with a master being always present. Bathing
in Bush River was strictly prohibited.

The cornerstone was laid on June 5, 1785, before a large crowd of
people from the surrounding country and perhaps representing most of the
Methodist churches of the Eastern Seaboard. Bishop Asbury was the
speaker of the occasion and set forth in appropriate terms the importance
of religious education and its advantages to the future generations.

College Organized

Of the fifteen trustees selected for the new school, five were from
Baltimore, one from Annapolis; two from the Eastern Shore, and five were
traveling preachers. It is significant that not one was a resident of Harford
County.

As soon as the building was under roof, the preparatory school was
opened with 15 pupils and was taught by Freeman Marsh, a Quaker of
middle age, “a good Latin scholar and excellent disciplinarian.”
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238 OUR HARFORD HERITAGE

Bishop Asbury was named the first president, but it seems that at least
the first principal and possibly other teachers were selected by Dr. Coke.
The first headmaster, the Rev. M. Heath, an Englishman who was master
of the grammar school at Kidderminster, England, was sent over by Dr.
Coke in 1787.

A regulation, probably laid down by Mr. Wesley, specified that
assistants to the master must be single men. In the college proper, Patrick
McCloskey, a well-educated Irishman, was the first to serve in that capacity,
while Mr. Marsh continued to act as teacher of the preparatory department.

The inauguration of Mr. Heath in December, 1787, was a grand
affair, lasting three days. Bishop Asbury preached a sermon on each of
three successive days, using the following texts: “Trust in the Lord and
Do Good,” “O Man of God, There is Death in the Pot,” and “They Shall
Not Labor in Vain.”

Curriculum Extremely Classical

John Wesley took great interest in the new college and wrote a letter
to Mr. Heath early in 1788 in which he laid down in minute detail the new
curriculum, largely based on that of Kingswood School. The day started
with classes at 7 A.M. and the last class was 4 P.M. The course of study,
which covered material for eight classes, included fundamentals for
children, as well as more difficult courses in mathematics, English, litera-
ture, Greek, Hebrew, and Latin. Wesley wrote, “I pray you not to adopt
any of the modern innovations. Do not throw away the accents in Greek
or the vowels in Hebrew.”

~ We find, however, that the teachers failed to carry out Mr. Wesley’s
explicit directions and within a year other studies, such as logic, history,
geography, natural philosophy, astronomy, French, and German were
added. How a college of this size could offer such a varied curriculum, or
how the small number of instructors could teach that many subjects
effectively, is a marvel to present-day educators.

Rules Most Rigid

From the beginning, the iron-clad rules were, according to an eminent
minister, “of the sternest and most ample boy-killing character.” All stu-
dents were required to rise at 5 A.M. and be in bed by 9 P.M., summer and
winter, and each must study seven hours a day.

There were intervals of “recreation,” which were spent in the practical
study of architecture, in the workshop, or in agriculture which consisted
of cultivating the large plot of ground laid out for a garden. A person
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skilled in gardening was appointed to overlook the students in recreation,
and each was at liberty to indulge in his own particular interest to cultivate
any plant from a tulip to a cabbage. All were prohibited from participating
in anything which had the semblance of play, this admonition reading,
“Let this rule be observed with the strictest nicety, for those who play when
they are young will play when they are old.”

College Encounters Difficulties

President Heath served less than a year, being accused by one of his
assistants of inefficiency in teaching Latin. McCloskey and Marsh also left
in 1788. The new faculty consisted of Dr. Jacob Hall of Abingdon who
served as president and the Rev. John Hargrove, the Rev. Joseph Toy, and
Charles Tart, assistants. Dr. Hall and Mr. Toy had family connections in
Harford County. The former married Mary Wilmot and a son, William
W. Hall, at one time owned and lived on the- “Dairy Farm” near Belcamp.
Mr. Toy married the daughter of Richard Dallam II.

Despite the fact that the college had a difficult time in procuring
efficient teachers and was always in financial straits, it continued to grow
and flourish. An enrollment of 70 pupils, exclusive of those in the
preparatory school, was reported in 1792. Tuition rates were set at that
time at $16.88 per pupil, with an extra $60 a year for a boarding student.

By 1794 the debt had reached $6,000. Hoping to improve its financial
condition, the General Conference applied for an Act of Incorporation
which materially changed the control of the school from that of the church
to a board called “The Trustees and Governors of Cokesbury College.” By
this act the institution lost its denominational character and became
free to all.

On December 4, 1795, came the great catastrophe. A fire—thought to
be of incendiary origin—burned the building to the ground. The fame of
this school spread far and wide in the short time of its existence, and many
of its bricks were sought and carried away as relics of an institution that
played its small part in the educational history of Harford County.

PUBLIC SCHOOLS
1723-1870

While public schools in Maryland were not put on a firm basis until
authorized by the State Constitution of 1867, some very feeble attempts
were made to organize them with at least partial public financial support at
a very early date.
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